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SUPREME COURT OF THE'STATE OF NEW YORK 
COUNTY OF NEW YORK: PART 45 
-----------------------------------------------------------------------)( 
RED ZONE LLC, 

Plaintiff, 

-against-

CADWALADER,'WICKERSHAM & TAFT LLP, 

Defendant. 

-----------------------------------------------------------------------)( 

MELVIN L. SCHWEITZER, J.: 

Inde)( No. 650318111 

DECISION AND ORDER 

Motion Sequence No. 002 

!l 
I 

The plaintiff claims that the defendant committed legal malpractice. The plaintiff has 
'. I 

moved for summary judgment. The defendant opposes the plaintiffs motion for summary 
'I 

judgment and moves for summary judgment against the claims. I 

Background 

Facts Relating to Malpractice 

The court finds the 'following facts relating to the issue ot: legal malpractice. While· 

!! 
Cadwalader Wickersham & Taft LLP (Cadwalader) disputes several points, it has not introduced 

I 

evidence that is sufficient to demonstrate a~y material issue of fa:ct with the following account. 
,I 

In 2004, Red Zone LLC (Red Zone) retained Cadwalader,to advise it in connection with 
I, 

a potential acquisition of the entertainment company, Si)( Flags, Inc (Si)( Flags). Dennis Block 

(Mr. Block), a partner at Cadwalader, was the attorney who had primary responsibility for the 

matter. Red Zone then owned appro)(imately $34.5 million or 8.76% ofSi)( Flags' common 

voting stock, 
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,; 
. I 

" :; 

In April 2005, Red Zone met with the investment bank., UBS Securities LLC (UBS) to 

discuss Red Zone's investment in Six Flags. On June 7, 2005, Rep Zone and UBS signed a 

" 

seven-page agreement (Engagement Agreement) detailing the role that UBS would play in 
,: 

assisting Red Zone with a potential acquisition transaction of Six Flags. Cadwalader advised 
'I 

Red Zone in connection with the Engagement Agreement. The E~gagement Agreement stated 
, 

that Red Zone would pay UBS a $10 million fee if an "Acquisitioh Transaction" was completed 
II 

by December 7,2006. The Engagement Agreement provided that an "Acquisition Transaction" 

could be accomplished by (a) a transaction in the nature of a merger, (b) a stock acquisition, or 
'! 

( c) the acquisition of control "through a proxy contest or otherwise." 
·1 
" 

On August 16, 2005, Red Zone and UBS had developed a plan to launch a consent , 
'! 

solicitation with the goal of providing Red Zone with three of the· seven director positions at 
.1 

Six Flags. Red Zone had also acquired additional common shares of Six Flags, raising their 
,I 

common voting stock stake to 11.7%. !l 
" ., 

'I 

Just prior to the launch of the consent solicitation, UBS p~rsonnel informed Red Zone 
II 

that it would demand a $10 million fee if the consent solicitation ':Was successful. Red Zone, 

took the p~sition that UBS' request was "absurd" and not the intent of the Engagement 
I 
I 

Agreement. Red Zone threatened not to go forward with the con~ent solicitation. This dispute 
I 

,I 
took place at Cadwalader's office, and Red Zone's only counsel present was Cadwalader. 

'I 
Mr. Block was present when representatives of Red Zoneiand UBS reached an oral 

" 

agreement (Side Agreement) and shook hands on a deal that wo~ld result in the consent 

solicitation going forward. 
, 

" 

Mr. Snyder (Mr. Snyder), the Managing Member of Red Zone, stated in his affidavit that 

the parties Side Agreement limited "Red Zone's liability for fees':to UBS for the Six Flags 

2 
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;; 
" 'I 

transaction at $2 million for anything that did not involve Red Zone acquiring a majority [ofth'e] 

stock of Six Flags." Mr. Block testified, in a deposition in.a previous case, to the following , 

description of the negotiation: 

'i 
'/ 
II 
it 

"We were in a room and Dan [Snyder] was quite, Mr. Snyder was 
quite agitated over the fact that, and he started the discussion by saying, 
just to bring me up to date, that Mr. Sriubas [ofUBS] had recognized that 
if there was a proxy contest, a consent solicitation, as opposed to an 
acquisition of the business, that UBS would get only $2 m~llion in fees 
and that his people, Sriubas' people were quite unhappy with that and felt 
they had done a lot of work and had earned a much bigger fee already .... 

'i 
'I 

. And the question was should or could he give more money to UBS 
and Dan said, and he said it in very loud and not so nice ~ords, that he 
was leaving, that he was not going forward with the proxy contest, that his 
total investment in what he was now characterizing as a disaster, was 
something less than $40 million and that you don't pay $10 million ... in 
order to protect $40 million by getting yourself elected to a board where 
you're not going to have an ability to do very much in any event. 

Dan was unwilling to pay any more money and basically said he 
was leaving. They asked, and they being [the UBS representatives] 
Mr. Le Brun, Mr. Sine, and Mr. Sriubas, ifthey could excuse themselves 
from the room for a few minutes so that they could talk a~d then they'd 
come back. :1 

, 
[T]hey came back in the room, Mr. Sine said, in e~sence that he 

didn't think this was fair but he would agree to do the $2 million and he 
would hope that somewhere down the road Mr. Snyder could see his way 
to do something more.· Mr. Snyder made no commitment,to do anything. 
He said fine, let's go next door and go back to work. 

At that point I asked [Andrew] Sriubas and I asked Andy 
Schleimer, who was one of Mr. Sriubas' people, and Bill~ills, one of my 
people, to come into the room, we told them exactly what'transpired 
during the meeting and we told them because we didn't want any 
confusion with respect to what you and I had been talking about on Page 1 
of the engagement letter, to amend the engagement letter so to take out 
any concept or any context [ sic] of proxy contest as a means of their [sic] 
being a payment in excess of2 million." ; 

" 

3 
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;i 
Following the meeting, Mr. Snyder instructed Mr. Block to memorialize the Side 

II 
,I 

Agreement into a written document that would be binding on UBS. On August 17, a document 
. I; 

(Side Letter) was reviewed by Cadwalader and presented to Mr. Sriyder. On August 17,2005, ., 
r I! 

Mr. Snyder signed the Side Letter on behalf of Red Zone. Representatives of UBS also signed 
I 

the Side Letter. 
:1 

. Mr. Andrew Sriubas, one of the UBS representatives who '~igned the Side Letter, testified 

Ii 
in the previous case that the following described their understanding of the Side Agreement: 

~ 
"When I signed the August 17 Amendmerit on behalf of UBS, 

representatives of UBS and Red Zone had struck a deal that UBS was to 
receive only a $2 million fee in connection with Red Zone's engagement 
of UBS relating to Six Flags, and that Red Zone had the option, but not 
the obligation, to pay an additional amount to UBS in Red'Zone's sole 
discretion. II 

As a UBS representative and a signatory of the August 17 Letter, I 
understood that if the proposed Red Zone consent solicitation were to be 
successful, the newly-appointed members of the Six Flags Board would 
seek to expand their influence on the board and with the company, and 
that this would not trigger the payment of any additional fee to UBS other 
than in Red Zone's sole discretion." :\ 

'1 

The Side Letter itself simply stated that "the term 'acquisition transaction' does not 
II , 
·1 

include the Company's proposed consent solicitation to replace three of the acquisition 
Ii ., 

candidate's seven directors announced on or about the date hereof." 

·1 
Mr. Block also testified in a deposition that the purpose of the Side Letter was "to make . 

. , 
, clear the parties' agreement that UBS would not get more than $2 million unless 51 percent of ., . , 

the stock was acquired by Red Zone." Mr. Block repeated this in; even more firm words when he 
" 

" 

explained that the $10 million was, "off the table period ... unle~s they did an acquisition of 

more than 50 percent stock within the tail period, they would notiget more than $2 million. 

4 
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Il 
I 

I! 
'I 

!I 
Mr. Block saw the Side Agreement and the Side Letter as a clarification (or reiteration) 

" 

of rights that were already apparent in the original Engagement Agreement. In the previously 

quoted deposition, he stated, 

Andy Sriubas [ofUBS] and I both agreed that we r~ally didn't 
need a letter, that the original agreement, the engagement letter, 
didn't provide a right to receive more than $2 million in 
connection with the proxy contest or anxthing coming out of the 
proxy contest. The only reason this document was"drafted was 
because Andy ... insisted they had a right, though we believe it 
was not ambiguous, it was essential that something be written to 
clarify that. . . :1 

'\ 
Mr. Block then clarified how the August 17 Side Letter r~lated to the earlier 

Engagement Agreement and said, " .. '. we were now making it as clear as the parties could make 
ij 
'I 

it that that was what the old agreement meant." I 
·1 

On August 17,2005, the consent solicitation went forwarq successfully and Red Zone 
I 

secured three of seven director positions. Over the next 18 months, UBS went on to attain a 

much greater position on Six Flags' Board of Directors. By January 11, 2006, Red Zone 
,I 
, 

nominees held 9 out of 10 ofthe Six Flags' board positions. Over 50% of Six Flags' directors 
II 

were Red Zone insiders. Mr. Snyder held the, position of Six Fla~s Chairman. Mr. Shapiro, Red 
I 
i 

Zone's Chief Executive officer was also Six Flags' Chief Executive Officer. 

On May 22, 2007, UBS sent a letter to Red Zone demanding the remainder of the 
.' 

$10 million fee, which UBS would be entitled to in the event of <in Acquisition Transaction. Red 
il 
" 

Zone contacted Cadwalader for assistance on the matter, but later hired alternative trial counsel. 
,I 

'I 
The dispute between Red Zone and UBS resulted in litigation. The New York Supreme 

'I ,I 

Court denied summary judgment to both parties. On appeal, the .first Department reversed, 
II 

granting summary judgment to UBS. The court determined that Red Zone controlled Six Flags 
'I 

5 
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I 

through its presence on its board and management. In making this finding the court relied on a 

dictionary definition of the term control, because the Engagement Agreement did not provide for 
~ , 

a more specific definition. The court noted that, as defined in the Engagement Agreement, an 
:1 

Acquisition Transaction included gaining control, "through a pro~y contest or otherwise." The 
'i 
'I 

court concluded that because Red Zone had acquired control, the ~erms of the Engagement 
! 

Agreement, dictated that Red Zone owed UBS the fee. Finding n? ambiguity in the Engagement 
. 

Agreement, the court declined to consider parol evidence relating to the Engagement Agreement. 
,I 

i 
The court considered the Side Letter and found that the claim that the letter capped the fee "is 

ii 
1/ 

belied by a reading of the document itself." ': 
I 

Red Zone moved for leave to appeal to the Court of Appeals from the decision of the 
,I 

First Department, but the motion was denied by Order entered Ju?e 30, 2011. In the appeal, Red 

.i 
Zone referred to the First Department's definition of control as "~radical departure - a departure 

1 

from prior New York case law, from widely accepted principles of corporate law, and from 
I 

common sense." 

Facts Relating to Continuing Representation 

" II 

:1 

J 
i 

The court finds the following facts relating to the issue of,continuing representation. In 
'I 

2004,'Red Zone hired Cadwalader to advise it in connection with a potential acquisition of 
• 

Six Flags. There was no retainer agreement between Red Zone and Cadwalader for any part of 
I 
II 

the Six Flags representation. II 
J 
'I 

On June 7, 2005, Cadwalader advised Red Zone when it entered into the Engagement 
I: , 

Agreement with UBS. On August 16, 2005Cadwalader attended the negotiation between UBS 
I 

and Red Zone, and was directed by Red Zone to draft the Side L~tter. The next day, it reviewed 

the Side Letter and presented it to Red Zone for signature. 

6 
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In December 2005, Cadwalader advised Red Zone with reSpect to a second amendment 
:1 

to the Engagement Agreement, which did not relate to the fee dispute between UBS and Red 
I 

Zone. No work was done after December 2005 until May 22, 2007, when UBS sent Red Zone a 
!, 

demand letter for the remainder of the $10 million fee. 

:! 
Shortly after receiving the letter, Red Zone representative~ spoke with Mr. Block by 

'I 
phone about the demand letter. Cadwalader billed Red Zone for the consultation. Mr. Block 

. ,I 

explained to Red Zone that he could not be counsel of record bec~use of his involvement in 
,I 

negotiating the Side Letter, but that he would help find trial couns,el, and that he would still work 

with Red Zone on the matter. Mr. Block testified that he does not recall making such statements. 
il 

Cadwalader recommended Red Zone retain Gregory Joseph, Esq to respond to the 
,I 

demand letter, and Red Zone did so. Mr. Joseph responded to UBS on Red Zone's behalf by 
" 

letter dated June 11, 2007. Prior to responding, Mr. Joseph spoke' with Mr. Block about the 
'I 

situation. When Red Zone received a reply from UBS on July 31,' 2007 it immediately 
'I 

forwarded the reply letter to Mr. Block. Soon thereafter UBS file~ suit against Red Zone. 

I 

On August 8, 2007, Red Zone discussed the case with Mr.' Block and Mr. Block indicated . :; 
I; 

that he thought UBS's case was without merit. Mr. Block offered to call an employee ofUBS he 
i 

,I , 
knew from his representation of the man while he was employed at another financial institution , 

:! 

to tell UBS to drop their claim against Red Zone. Cadwalader billed Red Zone for the August 8, 

" 

2007 consultation. This was the last bill that Cadwalader sent to ~ed Zone relating to the UBS 

fee dispute. Red Zone representatives have testified that Cadwal~der neither expressed that it 

was no longer going to bill, nor indicated any reason for why it had stopped billing. 
,) 

Cadwalader prepared, but did not send, two draft retainer letters for execution by 
I 
I 

Red Zone. The first was prepared at some point in 2006 and the second in October 2007. The 

7 
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/ 

language of the second letter indicates that Cadwalader's representation of Red Zone on matters 

related to the Six Flags transaction had ended. 

Prior to a dinner meeting with UBS in late August 2007, Mr. Snyder consulted with 
" 

, 
Mr. Block about whether a settlement offer should be made with respect to the fee dispute. 

,I 

Mr. Block advised that Red Zone should not settle unless UBS made a "very low offer." After , 
:1 

the dinner meeting, Red Zone's internal counsel, Mr. Donovan, and Mr. Snyder contacted 
'I 
" 

Mr. Block to discuss the dinner meeting. il 
Mr. Block testified at his deposition in the UBS litigation that he had an attorney-client 

1 
privileged communication with Mr. Snyder about the UBS litigation shortly after it commenced. 

II 
In the spring of 2008, Red Zone obtained names of UBS board members and spoke with 

I 

Mr. Block about whether he knew any of them. Mr. Block responded that he did not. Prior to 

sending a letter to the board members, Red Zone provided Mr. Bfock with a copy of the letter for 
" 

:\ 
comments and advice. Mr. Block provided comments on the letter. 

I , 
On August 6, 2008, Red Zone and UBS entered mediation. Before mediation, 

,I 

'I 
Mr. Snyder consulted with Mr. Block about settlement positions, and Mr. Block told Mr. Snyder 

II 
that the UBS claim had no merit. Immediately following mediation, Red Zone representatives 

called Mr. Block to report what had occurred. 

In November 2008, Red Zone consulted with Mr. Block regarding a trial stipulation to 
,I 

the effect that Mr. Snyder and other'Red Zone employees would guarantee payment of any 

adverse judgment against Red Zone, in return for UBS withdrawing its motion to amend its , 
" I 

complaint to add claims for fraudulent conveyance relating to the distribution of Red Zone 
II 

common stock. 

8 

" ., 
I 

,I 
il 

:\ 
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In December 2008, Mr. Block told Mr. Snyder that there was "plenty of case law" to 
, 
'I 

support Red Zone's position. Mr. Block also spoke with Mr. Donovan, and discussed two recent 
'I 
,I 

cases that concerned the issue of "change of control" under Delaware law. Mr. Block suggested 
1\ 
" 

that Red Zone's trial counsel should move for "judgment on the pleadings" based on the issue of 

control. 

As the case progressed, trial documents were routinely sent to Cadwalader. Some of 
" 

, 'I 
these papers were labeled, "Confidential & Attorney Work Product." In the spring of2009, 

'\ 

! 
Mr. Block offered to review Red Zone's summary judgment papers, and he provided comment 

;~ 
on these papers. 

" 

In June of2009, Red Zone's trial counsel sent its draft bri~f on summary judgment to 
I~ 
• 

Cadwalader for review. In an email trial counsel wrote, "I am sen,ding pursuant to the privilege 

our law firms share as council [sic] to Red Zone. . .. Please thank Dennis Block for offering to 
" . 'i 

review the brief in his capacity as counsel to Red Zone." On June 4, 2009, Cadwalader sent trial 
I 
'I 

counsel an email saying: "When you have a revised draft, we'd of course be happy to look at 
,I 

.1 

that." Following this, Cadwalader and Red Zone exchanged emails regarding drafting 
J 

submissions in the case. 
'1 

:, 
i 

" " 

, 

When oral arguments went poorly in May 2010, Red Zone consulted with Mr. Block 
I 

about the case. On June 3, 2010, in a meeting at Cadwalader's offices, Red Zone discussed the 
r 

UBS litigation with Cadwalader. In December, 2010, Red Zone consulted with Cadwalader 
,j 

regarding Amicus Support of their position. 
Ii 
il 
;1 

Mr. Raskopfwas the lead partner at the firm serving as R~d Zone's trial counsel on the 
'I 
il 

Red Zone-UBS fee dispute. He testified that his firm routinely s~ared confidential documents 

9 
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I 
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with Cadwalader, seeing them as joint counsel. He stated that such documents would not be 
'i 

shared with "mere former counsel." :1 
II 
! 

Mr. Block explained that Cadwalader did not understand there to be an ongoing, , 
I 

continuous, developing and dependent relationship between the fipn and Red Zone, at any point , 
'I 

after December 2005. He also stated that he had no understanding of the need for further 
I 

representation of Red Zone by Cadwalader, on the subject matter of the Side Letter, at any time 
II 

after it was executed. Mr. Block explained that he viewed his communications with Red Zone as 
,! 

merely "being helpful" rather than providing "advice" or "approving strategies in the capacity of 

legal counsel." Similarly, Mr. Block explained that when he reviJwed documents pertaining to 
I , 

the UBS litigation that he did not understand himself to be doing so in the capacity of legal 
I 

counsel. 

Discussion 

" "To establish a cause of action for legal malpractice, the plaintiff must show that the 
II 
'I 

attorneys were negligent, that their negligence was the proximate cause of the plaintiffs 
, J 

,I 

damages, and that the plaintiff suffered actual. damages as a direct, result of the attorneys' 
" , 

actions." Franklin v Winard, 199 AD2d 220, 221 (l st Dept 1993). Attorneys are said to be 
~ 

negligent if they "fail to exercise that degree of care, skill and diligence commonly possessed 

and exercised by a member of the legal community." Barbara King Family Trust v Valuta 
I! 

Ventures LLC, 46 AD3d 423 (l st Dept 2007). 
" t 

Red Zone has not offered any expert testimony to establish whether Cadwalader breached 

a standard of professional care or skill. Absent expert testimony, fa finding ofmalpnictice is only , , 

,I 

appropriate when "~he ordinary experience of the fact-finder provides sufficient basis for judging 
If 

,I , 

10 
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'\ 
the adequacy of professional service, or the attorney's conduct falls below any standard of due 

" 

care." Northrop v Thorsen, 46 AD3d 780, 782 (2d Dept 2007) (emphasis added). 

'f 
To obtain summary judgment, the moving party must establish its cause of action 

,t 

"sufficiently to warrant a court's directing judgment in its favor a~l a matter of law." Gilbert 
" 
I 

Frank Corp. v Fed Ins. Co., 70 NY2d 966, 967 (1988). In order to defeat the motion, the 
\ , 

defending party must produce admissible evidence to establish a f!lctual issue requiring trial. Id 
Ii 

The motion must be scrutinized in a light most favorable to the opposing party. Negri v Stop and 
,! 
I 

Shop, Inc., 65 NY2d 625, 626 (1985). The Court of Appeals has ~aid, "As a practical matter 
'I 
,I 

summary judgment continues to be a rare event in negligence cases. But this does not mean that 
" 
I 

the court is obliged, on policy grounds, to ferret out speculative issues 'to get the case to the , 
" 

jury ... " Andre v Pomeroy, 35 NY2d 361, 364-65 (1974). 

Negligence , 
" 

,I 
Red Zone alleges that Cadwalader "botched" the one-page Side Letter. 

~ 
This allegation 

J , can be parsed out in steps. 

II 
First, Red Zone and UBS orally agreed to limit Red Zone's payment obligation at 

J . 
$2 million unless Red Zone owned more than 50 percent of Six Flags common stock. There are 

" It 
no material issues of fact in dispute on this point. Mr. Snyder, the Managing Member of 

II 

Red Zone, submitted an affidavit swearing that this was the purpo'se for entering into the Side 
It 
" , 

Agreement. Mr. Block, also testified that this was the purpose for entering into the Side 

Agreement. 

Second, Red Zone instructed Cadwalader to draft the Side'Letter to memorialize the oral 

agreement between Red Zone and UBS on this point. 

11 

There is no'material issue of fact on this 
'i 
:1 
,I 
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point. 

If 
:i 

Mr. Snyder testified that he instructed Cadwalader to redu~e the oral agreement to 
" 

I' 

il 
writing. 

I! 
Third, Red Zone alleges that Cadwalader breached the duty of care it owed to Red Zone 

;, 

by failing to limit Red Zone's payment obligation to UBS as orally agreed by Red Zone and 
'! 

UBS. Red Zone claims that any fool could have drafted a letter correctly memorializing the oral 
r 

agreement. 

Cadwalader has several responses. 

" Cadwalader argues that it warned Red Zone that the Side Letter might not have limited 
I I, 

its payment obligation to $2 million. The only evidence Cadwala'~er presents to support this 
,1 

claim is an affidavit of Mr. Block. This affidavit starkly contradi~ts Mr. Block's deposition , 
testimony, given during the UBS litigation. 

'/ 

"A party's affidavit that contradicts her prior sworn testimony creates only a feigned 
'J 

issue of fact, and is insufficient to defeat a properly supported motion for summary judgment." 
I 
1 

· Harty v Lend, 294 AD2d 296, 298 (I st Dept 2002). See also Phillips v Bronx Lebanon Hasp., 
r! 

268 AD2d 318, 320 (1 st Dept 2000) ("While issues of fact and credibility may not ordinarily be 
· , 

determined on a motion for S'ummary judgment, where, as here, the self-serving affidavits 
,I 

· · 
submitted by plaintiff in opposition clearly contradict plaintiffs oWn deposition 

': 

" 

testimony ... they are insufficient to raise a triable issue of fact tJ defeat defendant's motion for 
'f 

'I 
summary judgment."). if 

'I 

I 

Mr. Block's affidavit testimony relating to legal malpractice has not been considered by 
. " 

the court in dealing with its determination of malpractice. Absent this affidavit, Cadwalader has 

not submitted evidence to create a material issue of fact that it w~med Red Zone that the Side 
'/ 

Letter might not have limited Red Zone's payment obligations. 

12 
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" 

Cadwalader argues that the Side Letter was not unreasonable. Cadwalader points to 
II 

statements in Red Zone's briefs in connection with its appeal to the Court of Appeals that the 

:1 
definition of control used by the Appellate Division was a "radica~ departure" from prior case 

law. Red Zone's argument about the definition of control was m~de in an attempt to win an 
" 

" 

appeal of an adverse decision in its case against UBS, despite the fact that the Side Letter had 
:t 

been held by the Appellate Division to have failed to limit their payment obligations. If the Side 
:l 

Letter functioned to limit Red Zone's payment obligations, as the,parties orally agreed it was to 
II 

II 
function, then there never would have been a serious question about the definition of control. At 

I 
best, Cadwalader's argument could demonstrate that the Side Letter was close to being 

" 

" , 
unnecessary, but it has no bearing on whether the Side Letter was!a reasonable attempt to 

!I 

'. 

memorialize the oral agreement. 
" 

" Cadwalader also argues that even if the Side Letter did not expressly cap Red Zone's 
. J 

payment obligations, as a practical matter it may have been reasonable to think that it was 
il 

sufficient protection, in the circumstances. To support this, CadJalader points to the fact that at 
Ii 

the time the Side Letter was executed, Red Zone apparently had no intention of obtaining control 
't 

of Six Flags. Essentially, Cadwalader is claiming that even if there were gaps in the Side Letter, 
.I 

these gaps were reasonable because they only later came into playas a result of unexpected 
II 

circumstances. 
, 

:1 
I 

The reasonableness of a gap in a contract is often a factual issue, but here the gap was 
" 

I 
unreasonable as a matter of law. Cadwalader has not produced any evidence indicating that Red , 

I 

Zone's increased presence on the Six Flags board was unexpected. The general purpose of the 
-, 

agreement between UBS and Six flags was to increase Red Zone::s influence over Six Flags and, 

more specifically, this was also the purpose of the consent solicit~tion which the Side Letter 

13 

-, 
" 

!l 
,I 
" 
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, 
" iI 
'. I 

referenced. Cadwalader was well aware of these ambitions when it reviewed the Side Letter. 

II 
Red Zone's continued acquisition of seats on the Six Flag"s Board was intimately connected to 

" , 

the purpose of the Side Letter. 

I 

Cadwalader argues that the Side Letter was reasonable because UBS agreed that it 
• 

limited Red Zone's payment obligations. To support this claim, Cadwalader relies on the 

affidavits of the UBS representatives who signed the Side Letter. :tTheir testimony states that 

I 
they believed that the oral agreement limited Red Zone's payment obligations. Nothing in their 

testimony suggests that the Side Letter itself accurately memorialized the oral agreement. Even 

'. if the affidavits of the UBS business representatives supported its, argument, this would have no 
'I 

bearing on the reasonableness of the Side Letter. No reasonable attorney would rely upon an 

opposing party's interpretation of a contract. 

Cadwalader's position that the Side Letter was not unreasonable is without merit. 
.t 

Causation 

To establish a claim to recover for malpractice the plaintiff must show that, "but for" the 
" 

I 
lawyer's negligence she would not have suffered the injury. AmBase Corp. v Davis Polk & 

I 
Wardwell, 8 NY3d 428, 434 (2007). 

i 
According to Cadwalader, it should not be liable because the UBS litigation did not hinge 

:1 

on the Side Letter. This argument is not compelling. But for Cadwalader's failure to 
~ , 

• 

professionally prepare the Side Letter, the UBS litigation would have hinged on the Side Letter. 

'. 
The court ruled that Red Zone's increased presence on the Six Flag's Board of Directors 

·1 
;1 

in the period between August 17,2005 and May 22,2007, constituted an Acquisition ;, 

Transaction, as such term is defined in the Engagement Agreemeht. Because Red Zone n~ver 
" 

'. achieved anywhere near a 51 % ownership position in Six Flag's common stock, this increased 
.r 

14 11 
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II 
I 

it 
'I / 
II 

presence would not have constituted' an Acquisition Transaction hid the Side Letter done what it 

was supposed to do. 

I 
The only possible issue is whether the Side Letter could have modified the Engagement 

I 
I 

Agreement. This issue is quickly resolved by noting that the Appellate Division did not treat the 
I 

,I . 
Side Letter as inadmissible parol evidence. Instead, it considered the Side Letter, treating it as a 

,I 

modification of the Engagement Agreement, and determined that the Side Letter failed to limit 

Red Zone's payment obligations. :; 
:1 

Cadwalader argues that it was not the cause of Red Zone's injury because Red Zone had 
II . 

an opportunity to avoid the injury by prevailing in the lawsuit against UBS. A claim for legal 

malpractice fails where "it is clear that the proximate cause 'of any damages sustained by plaintiff 
• 

I" 
was not the alleged malpractice of defendants, but rather the intervening and superseding failure 

of plaintiffs successor attorneys." Pyne v Block & Assoc., 305 AD2d 213 (1st Dept 2003). 
'[ 
, 

Red Zone's subsequent counsel had little opportunity to limit Red Zone's liability. 
I! ' 

Although Red Zone's subsequent counsel is experienced and well regarded, the UBS litigation 
I[ 

II 
can best be summed up by reference to Harry Hopkins aside to President Roosevelt at the bleak 

II 
moment of the economy's crash in 1938, "There are no more rabbits." 

~ 

I 
Cadwalader complains that Red Zone did not offer expert testimony during the UBS , 

'I 

litigation and did not depose some potential witnesses. These strategic decisions are entirely 
i 

unlike the shortcomings of subsequent counsel that have been found to disrupt original counsel's 
I 

,I 

causal relationship to the client's liability. For example, in Pyne"the subsequent attorney failed 
, 

to serve potentially liable parties in a timely fashion. Id. Even iflthis rule could be applied to 
I 

general strategic miscalculations, there is no reason to hold that Red Zone's subsequent counsel 

I! ' 

15 
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made any mistakes. The court in the UBS litigation did not rely 011 parol evidence in making its 

'I 
decision. Entering additional testimony could not have altered the: outcome. 

t 

Statute of Limitations 
'I 

The Side Letter was executed and signed on August 17,2095. When this claim was filed 
,I 
, 

in April of 20 11, over five years had elapsed since the alleged malpractice occurred. Legal 

" 

malpractice claims generally must be filed within three years of the alleged malpractice. CPLR 
If 

214 (6). However, the statute of limitations is tolled through the ~uration of an attorney's 
" 

'I 
"continuous representation" of her client. See Glamm v Allen, 57 NY2d 87, 93 (1982). Unless 

II 
the statute of limitations was tolled through the doctrine of continuous representation the claim 
,I 

" 

must be dismissed as untimely. 

'i 

The doctrine of "continuous representation" tolls the statute of limitations "until 'the 
'I 
'I 

completion of the attorney's ongoing representation concerning the matter out of which the 
II , 

malpractice claim arises." Pellati v Lite & Lite, 290 AD2d 544, 5~5 (2d Dept 2002). "In those 
" 
" 

cases where the continuous representation doctrine has been applied to attorney malpractice 
,j , 

. there are clear indicia of an ongoing, continuous, developing and aependent relationship between 
'. 1 

the client and the attorney often involving an attempt by the attorriey to rectify an alleged act of 

'f 
malpractice." Muller v Sturman, 79 AD2d 482, 485 (4th Dept 19~ 1). 

" 

"The continuous representation doctrine tolls the statute of limitations only where there is 
" ! , 

a mutual understanding of the need for further representation on tre specific subject matter 

'I 
underlying the malpractice claim." McCoy v Feinman, 99 NY2d 295, 306 (2002). 

" 

" 
On August 17,2005, when Cadwalader reviewed the Sid~1 Letter, there was a relationship 

" 

between Red Zone and Cadwalader relating to Red Zone's attempt to gain greater influence over 
, 
'I 

Six Flags and UBS' role in this effort. Red Zone representatives rave testified that it was their 

16 
" 

, 
II 
II 
,I 

II 
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I' 

Ii 
understanding that Cadwalader would provide any legal service necessary as the initiative 

:1 

continued. This testimony does not, as a matter of law, establish t~at Red Zone had an 
I 

understanding of the need for further representation on the issue. ,i 

Eighteen months later, when Red Zone received a letter from UBS demanding payment 
,i 

for its work on the Six Flags initiative, Red Zone contacted Cadw~lader. UBS's demand, and 

the litigation relating to this demand, would have been meritless b~t for Cadwalader's failure to 
:1 

properly draft the Side Letter. It is true as a matter of law that the ,dispute with UBS was 
I, 

"concerning the matter out of which the malpractice claim arises.': Pellati at 445. 
il 
'I 

The work performed by Cadwalader following the demand letter constituted 

representation. Mr. Block provided first comment and advice on ~he UBS demand letter. He 

. claimed attorney-client privilege during his deposition at the startr:ofthe UBS litigation. He 

provided advice on a letter to pressure the UBS board into droPPiAg the suit. Then he advised 
a 

Red Zone on settlement strategies prior to mediation. As the case moved to trial, he provided 
:,1 

!I 
advice on trial stipulations. He gave his opinion on the merits of the case, and pointed to 

" 

~ 
specific case law that related to the case. Trial documents were routinely passed to Cadwalader, 

'I 
" 

labeled "Confidential & Attorney Work Product." During the tri~l he advised on summary 
;r 

judgment papers. He received files from trial counsel that identi~ed him as counsel to Red 

Zone, and responded by inviting further files be sent along for comment. When appellate 
,I , 
I 

arguments went poorly, Mr. Block discussed the case over the phpne with Red Zone 
il 
i 

representatives. Subsequently, Red Zone representatives met at <:;:adwalader's offices to discuss 
ii 

the litigation, and Red Zone consulted Cadwalader regarding amicus support. 
I 

Cadwalader quotes from Feld v Willkie, Farr & Gallaghe~, 2004 WL 6039560 (Sup Ct 
I 

'I 

NY Co 2004), which says that work as "backup or shadow counsel" does not constitute 
Ii 

17 

[* 18]



, 
'I 

continuous representation. While the court in that case did identify the attorney as mere "backup 
" 

or shadow counsel" they did not indicate that this appellation had:anything to do with their 
. .! 

holding. Instead, the court held that there was not continuous representation because the two 
'I • 

sets of representation related to completely different events. Id. at 7. The court did go on, for , 
I 

the sake of argument, and address whether the attorney's work was sufficient. Even this analysis 

I' 
had nothing to do with the attorney being "shadow counsel." ,I 

Cadwalader cites Tal-Spans Corp. v Nurnberg, 213 AD2d. 395 (2d Dept 1995), which 
'I 
" 

held that consultation between the defendant attorney, plaintiffs 'i~nd their new attorneys 
i 

regarding pending litigation over the meaning of the contract drafted by him cannot be equated 

'I 
with ongoing representation." Tal-Spans was not decided on the issue of whether the 

" 

" , 
representation was sufficiently substantial. Rather, the court held that regardless of how 

:l 
substantial the representation was, the continuous representation <foctrine did not apply because 

there was a "history of litigation" between the attorney and the client that had ruined their 
" , 

relationship of trust and confidence. Id. 

Here, in contrast, there was representation as of August 17, 2005. There was 
·1 
" 

representation following May 22, 2007 and extending through th~ duration of the UBS litigation. 

Red Zone thus undoubtedly contemplated the need for further representation upon receiving the , 
'i 

UBS demand letter. The ini~ial issue is whether a finding of cont~nuous representation is 
I 

undermined because of the gap period in which Red Zone did not actively contemplate the need ., 

for further representation. 

Cadwalader argues that if there is a "clear break" between' two periods of representation, 
,I 

then the continuous representation doctrine is undermined. See Goldman v Akin Gump Strauss 

Hauer & Feld, LLP, Supreme Court, NY County, 11- Misc 3d 1077 (A), affd, 46 AD3d 481 

18 
!I 
I· 
I 
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I~ 
(1 st Dept 2007). It is not clear that the detennining break in GoldJnan was a gap in time, or a 

'I 
I 

"break" in which the substance of the work changed. Therefore, Goldman is not helpful in 
'r 

resolving this issue. In contrast, an appellate court has found cont~nuous representation in a 
:l 

situation with significant gaps. See N & S Supply, Inc. v Simmons: 305 AD2d 648 (2d Dept 

2003) (Finding continuous representation despite a period of about eighteen months as to which 

it 
there was no holding that the client contemplated a need for further representation on the 

" 

relevant issue). 

In the extreme, the requirement of contemplated further as~istance required by McCoy 
,I 

could be interpreted to undennine claims of continuous representation the moment a client takes 
., 
I 

a premature sigh of relief. It is not surprising that McCoy did not address the significance of a 
'I 
" 
'I 

gap in the client's expectation, because in McCoy the attorney never provided representation 

after the malpractice. Mccoy at 300. The supposed "continuatio~" in McCoy was a matter of 
'I 
I , 

mere omission. There, the attorney did not fonnally close the client's file and the plaintiff had 
'j 

argued that this tolled the statute of limitations. Even if the rule i'~ McCoy is strictly followed, 
'I 

the statute of limitations would be tolled once active representati6n and mutual contemplation of 
'j 
I 

the need for representation resume. II 

This rule comports well with the purposes of the tolling d~ctrine. The purpose of the 

doctrine is to keep a client from having to "jeopardize his pending case or his relationship with 

the attorney handling that case during the period that the attorneY'~continues to represent the 
I 

person." Glamm v Allen, 57 NY2d 87, 93 (1982). While the client could sue without 
:i 

jeopardizing any pending case during the gap, as soon as represe~tation resumes the client's 
i 

" 

initiation of a malpractice suit would likely jeopardize its case. Tohis rule is particularly 
il 

reasonable when the "gap" was merely a period absent. expectati~ns, rather than a period when 

:1 

,i 19 
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<I 
'I 

il· 
il 
I 

representation formally ended. In cases such as this, it is natural for a client to immediately 
- , 

I~ 

return to the attorney that it had previously worked with, once an issue arising from malpractice 

is detected. 

To summarize, regardless of whether the court follows N &: S Supply, Inc. v Simmons by 

il . 
tolling the statute of limitations through the duration of the gap, or follows a rule accordmg to 

il 
which the statute runs during the period in which there was not an expectation of future 

II 
controversy, the gap period does not undermine the timeliness of Red Zone's claim. 

Cadwalader argues that there are two additional reasons that the continuous 
I 

representation doctrine should not apply to this case. Neither of these reasons alters a finding of 
:1 

continuous representation. 

First, Cadwalader claims that, for the purposes of the continuous representation doctrine, 
. ~ . 

representation ends once the client has consulted a different attor~ey. This rule is plainly stated 
;1 

in an unpublished opinion in the Federal District Court, Northernl District of New York. Docster 
;[ 

v Levene, No. 3:03CVl193(FJS/DEP), 2005 WL 1388899, (NDNY June 8, 2005) ("Once a 
I 

client consults with another attorney with respect to the matter in:which his initial attorney 

represented him, continuous representation clearly ends because, at that point, the client is able 

to question the attorney's actions and to pursue remedies for perc~i~ed wrongs."). It is worth 
'I 

noting that, this interpretation of continuous representation was not dispositive in Docster. The 
I 

court ruled that any representation that had continued was for the.lcorporate entity in question, 

and not for the individual plaintiff. Docster at 6. 

New York state courts have not adopted a similar rule. The state case that Docster cites 
~ I 
'I 

for its authority on this issue articulates a far narrower rule: "in these special circumstances, 
I! 

where the attorney promptly moves to withdraw and the client acknowledges in writing an 
I, 

20 ;t 

:1 
'I 
II 
'I 
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II 
irreparable deterioration of the attorney-client relationship, we conclude that the relationship , 

II 
necessary to invoke the continuous treatment rule did not persist. .i •• " Aaron v Roemer, Wallens 

J . 
& Mineaux, LLP, 272 AD2d 752, 754 (3d Dept 2000). See also Tal-Spans Corp. at 395 

I: 
,I 

(Holding that the dispositive issue was not outside consultation but a "history of litigation" 
II ., , 

between the attorney and client). See also Piliero v Adler & Stavros, 723 NYS2d, 91 92 
I! . 

(2d Dept 2001) (" .... the relationship necessary to invoke the continuous representation rule 
, ,I . 

ceased to exist when the plaintiff retained new counsel on November 27, 1995, and requested by 
! / 

letter December 15, 1995, that the defendants take no further actidn on the matter in question."). 
I 

See also Kanter v Pieri, 11 AD3d 912 (4th Dept 2004) (Determining that although the client 
/1 I . 

"retained different appellate counsel, both he and his new appellate counsel understood that 
!i 

defendant would be preparing, filing, and serving the notice of appeal in the underlying action, 

and that he trusted that defendant would do so."). 

The rule is that consultation with additional counsel is only relevant when there has been 
, 

a breach in "the client's continuing trust and confidence" Aaron at 755. There is no evidence to 
i 

II 
suggest that there was a breach of trust and confidence between Cadwalader and Red Zone at 

i 

t 
any point prior to the filing of this case. 

Second, Cadwalader has attempted to draw a sharp line between litigation and 
'. , 
·1 

transactional work. Cadwalader argues that representation during,litigation cannot be deemed as 

'I 
continuous to representation during transactional work. New York courts have not embraced a 

: 
I rule based on such a sharp division. I[ 

I. 
·1 

The closest a New York court has come to embracing the division Cadwalader is calling , 

for was a decision which held: 
" 

if 
'I 
I' I 

21 I 

" II 

;j 
I 
" 
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ji 
I: 
r 

"While defendants were retained to advise plaintiffs and, if need be, 
serve as their litigation counsel, in connection with litigation then being 
threatened by the limited partners, as to the sale itself, defendants were 
retained only to draw the documents necessary to consummate a deal 
that had already been negotiated and agreed to. Holding plaintiffs to this 
position, defendants' representation in the arbitrations, which involved 
the merits of the litigation that was being threatened by the limited 
partners at the time plaintiffs retained defendants, was distinct from their 
representation in "papering" the sale, which did not involve negotiating 
the terms of the sale or advising whether or not to proceed:with it." 

,I 
Goldman at 481. 

, 

The decision focused on whether the two sets of representation were sufficiently similar. 
;1 
'I 

The continuity between the mere "papering" of a deal, .and arbitra~ion on the merits of that deal, 

Ii 
was not sufficient to toll the statute of limitations. The decisive factor was not a fine line 

between litigation and transactional work. j 
I, 

'I 
Offshore Exp., Inc. v Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy, "LLP, 03 CIV. 4260 (PAC), 

2007 WL 760419 (SONY Mar. 13, 2007) holds that,-"absent unique circumstances" litigation 
,! 

and transactional work should not be deemed continuous. The second circuit, in affirming, said 
'I , , 

"New York courts have consistently held that an attorney's representation in litigation relating to 
'I 

'I 

a corporate transaction is only continuous with his or her represe~tation with respect to that 
" 

transaction if it was contemplated by the parties." Offshore Expr~ss, Inc. v Milbank, Tweed, 
,I 
'j 

Hadley & McCloy, LLP, 291 Fed Appx 358, 359 (2d Cir 2008). The cases cited by the Second 

Circuit in support of this proposition, in fact, do not support it. 
!f 

'I 
McCoy, was the first case. Id. McCoy discusses the need, for "mutual understanding" but 

,I 
:~ 

does not cite any heightened requirement based on a distinction between litigation and 
It 

transactional work. See McCoy at 306. The second case, merely1discusses the need for 
,I 

"continuing trust and confidence." Deep v Boies, 53 A03d 948,950 (3d Dept 2008). The third , 

22 
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case is Goldman v Akin, which did not suggest a rule anything like the one proposed by the 

S de· . :1 
econ lrcUlt. 'I 

!; 

There are two New York cases which conclusively indicate that there is not a sharp 
" 

division between litigation and transactional work. Both of these ~ases were discussed and 

ultimately misinterpreted by the district court in Offshore. I~ 
" Ii 

In the first case, continuous representation was found becau~e the attorney initiated 

contact on several occasions to "effectuate" his client's separation' from a business entity, "and to 

discuss a strategy to defend the main action." N & S Supply at 650. The district court in 
" 
~! 

Offshore tried to distinguish Simmons by focusing on the continued transactional assistance. 
g . 

This reading of the decision in Simmons does not explain why the'lcourt specifically addressed 
.1 

I 
II 

:, the attorney's work on litigation strategy. Id. 

" In the second case, the attorney's alleged malpractice occurred in 1983 and the statute of 

limitations was tolled until 1990 as the attorney provided legal services related to the matter. 
'I 
II 

Kuritzky v Sirlin & Sirlin, 231 AD2d 607,608 (2d Dept 1996). The important portion of the 

case was that: 

The malpractice claim accrued in 1983 when the defendant 
committed errors in drafting a lease extension agreement between 
the plaintiffs, as landlord, and their commercial tenant ... [T]he , 
applicable limitations period was tolled between the accrual of the 
claim and the discovery of the malpractice in 1990, since the 
defendant continuously represented the plaintiffs during that 
period by performing legal services related to the matter out of 
which the malpractice claim arose ... Once the drafting errors 
were discovered in 1990, the defendant engaged in litigation on 
behalf of the plaintiffs to correct the errors. The litigation 
ultimately proved unsuccessful in 1993. Accordingly, the 
plaintiffs' commencement of the malpractice action'later that year 
was timely, inasmuch as there was a relationship of:"continuing 
trust and confidence" between the parties during which the 
defendant performed related services in connection 'with the 

r 
;1 

23 
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'J 

il 
matter, eventually including "an attempt. .. to rectify [the] alleged 
act of malpractice." " 

. 
ld. (citations omitted). ii 

The district court in Offshore stated that the Second Depa~ment in Kuritzky "did not tQll 
I 

the statute oflimitations for the period of the ensuing litigation, suggesting that litigation 
, , 

services did not involve the same legal matter as the lease agreement itself." Offshore at 2. The 
, " 

district court in Offshore explicitly stated that the statute of limita~ions was tolled from 1983 to 
II 

1990 because of their "continued legal services." It then goes on to state that from 1990 to 1993 

ii 
the attorney engaged in litigation to correct the errors. When the state court finds the suit is 

" 

timely it explicitly refer to "services" in connection with the matter and "an attempt to rectify," 
II -, 

which can only reasonably be read to refer to the litigation to "co~ect the error." It is certainly 
f 
I 

true that the Offshore court was more clear that the statute of limi~ations was tolled from 1983 to 

1990. In the absence of any indication that it was not tolled from "1990 to 1993, and in light of 
. 1 

I 

the court's explicit reference to both "services" and "an attempt t~ rectify" the only plausible 

interpretation is that the tolling continued through 1993. Finally, the statute of limitations for 
. ~ 

'I 

non-contract malpractice cases was three years at the time of the case, and had the court not 
!I 

continued tolling through the litigation, it could not have found the action timely. 
i, 

Discovery , 
,~ 
" 

Cadwalader has repeatedly called for more discovery, arguing that issuing summary 
) 

judgment at this point would be premature. The court has discretion to deny summary jUdgment 
• I 

'I 

if it "appears from affidavits submitted in opposition to the motion that facts essential to justify 

'. '. opposition may exist but cannot then be stated." CPLR 3212. il , 
The affidavits submitted in opposition to the motion for summary judgment do not . '. 

,I 

suggest that there are essential facts that have yet to be discovered. Generic requests for more 
II 

24 :, 

:\ 
't 
l 
II 

it' 

[* 25]



/ 
'I 

discovery do not disrupt an otherwise valid summary judgment motion. The specific request that 
~ , 

Cadwalader has made, do not suggest that more discovery is needed. 
,! , 

The issue of malpractice is entirely resolved by the documents and testimony presented. . i 
While Cadwalader has requested more discovery relating to Red ione's'litigation strategy in the 

~ 
t 

UBS case, there is no reason to believe that probing the issue of Red Zone's strategy could 

produce a material issue of fact. As discussed above, the UBS case was decided after a careful 
d . 

, 
examination of the relevant written documents, strategizing cannot change the meaning of 

II , 
written words. Even if further strategy could have mattered, Cadwalader has not given the court 

'I d . 
any reason to believe Red Zone made any mistakes. Finally, genuine strategic mistakes by 

II 
" 

subsequent counsel are not the sort of intervening event which wo1uld underm~ne a finding that 
;~ 

Cadwalader was the proximate cause of Red Zone's injuries. :\ 
'I ,I 

Cadwalader has also complained that it has not been given the opportunity to depose 
:1 

• t 

Mr. Snyder and certain UBS representatives. Again, Cadwalader ,pas made no suggestion as to 

I 
, what these depositions might reveal. UBS representatives have already testified in the UBS 

" 

litigation regarding their understanding of the Side Agreement. '\pe UBS representatives would 

have no knowledge relating to whether or not Cadwalader contin~ed to represent Red Zone. The 
I 

request to depose Mr. Snyder could only be relevant insofar as it dould indicate something about 
I 

ii 
the issue of continued representation. Mr. Snyder has already testified that he understood 

i 

Cadwalader to be Red Zone's counsel. There is no reason to think he would contradict this 
:1 

statement upon deposition. Any fact that Red Zone might have hoped to question through 

deposition would have been within the knowledge of cadwaladerl!representatives as well. In all 
I. 

material ways the testimony ofCadwalader's representatives wer~ consistent with Mr. Snyder's 

testimony; there is nothing in further need of discovery, 

25 
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Conclusion 

II 
:1 
,I 

:1 I, 

II 
'I 

The court grants Red Zone summary judgme'nt on its claim of legal malpractice. The 

court finds that the claim is timely and therefore denies Cadwalader summary judgment on its 
'I 

statute of limitation argument. 

further 

court. 

Accordingly, it is 

ORDERED that summary judgment for plaintiff is granted on legal malpractice; and it is 
I 

.~ 
'. I, 
'I 
I~ 

ORDERED that defendant's motion for summary judgment is denied. 

The procedure for determining damages will be addressed'!in a Supplemental Order of the 
'I I, 

'I I 

Dated: August;;' 7. 2013 
'I 
'i 
,I 
" 

ENTER: 

26 
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.y. MOTION DATE ___ _ 

MOTION SEQ. NO. (0).-

(:', -.) 
The following papers, numbered 1 to __ , were read on this motion to/for _____________ _ 

Notice of Motion/Order to Show Cause - Affidavits - Exhibits I No(s). _____ _ 

Answering Affidavits - Exhibits _______________ _ I No(s). ____ _ 

Replying Affidavits ___________________ _ I No(s). ____ _ 

Upon the foregoing papers, it is ordered that this motion .. ~ ra0e. ~ {; t1.~ ,.~~ ., ~ 
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~ ~I\1Te.b C4¥ ~ 'tk..~ 
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3. CHECK IF APPROPRIATE: ................................................ 0 SETILE ORDER 
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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK 
COUNTY OF NEW YORK: PART 45 

------------------------------------------------------~----------------x 
RED ZONE LLC, 

Plaintiff, 

-against-

CADWALADER, WICKERSHAM & TAFT LLP, 

Defendant. 

-----------------------------------------------------------------------x 

MELVIN L. SCHWEITZER, J.: ,I 
:1 
'I 

Index No. 650318111 

DECISION AND ORDER 

Motion Sequence No. 002 

In addition t6 the statute of limitations, Cadwalader, Wickersham & Taft LLP 
'I 

(Cadwalader) has pled seven affirmative defenses: (i) failure to sta.te a claim, (ii) Cadwalader did 
., 
" 

not breach any duty owed to Red Zone LLC (Red Zone), (iii) Cadwalader did not cause any 
i 
, 

injury or damages to Red Zone, (iv) Cadwalader's fourth affirmative defense is the statute of , 
" I! 

limitations, which the court has opined on separately, (v) Red Zo~e's claims are barred in whole 

or in part by the doctrines of laches, waiver and estoppel, (vi) Red Zone's claims are barred in 
I 

:1 

whole or in part by the doctrine of comparative and/or contributory negligence, (vii) Red Zone's 
'I 
'I 

claims are barred under the doctrines of equitable-and judicial estoppel and judicial admission, 
'I 
I 

and (viii) Red Zone's claims are barred in whole or in part becaus'~ Red Zone failed to mitigate 

iI-
damages. !I 

Cadwalader alleges that Red Zone's motion to dismiss fails because it has not submitted 
,I 

an affirmation that counsel for Red Zone conferred with counsel for Cadwalader in a good faith , 
- i 

effort to resolve the issues raised by the motion as required by 22~YCRR 202.7 (a) (2). 
il 

Section 202.7 (a) (2) states, "no motion shall be filed with the court unless there have been 
:1 
'I 
:1 
II 

II 
,I 
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!~ 
,\ 
I 

,I , 
,i 
II 

served and filed with the motion papers ... , with respect to a motion relating to disclosure or to a 
, h 

bill of particulars, an affirmation that counsel has conferred with ~ounsel for the opposing party 
'I 
" 

in a good faith effort to resolve the issues raised by the motion." il 
,I 

Section 202.7 is meant to avoid litigation by requiring that attorneys' attempt to resolve 
!I 

disputes prior to bringing the conflict to court. This conflict has b,een ongoing and resolution at 
" il 

this stage without the court's involvement is not only unlikely, b~t impossible. The court has 

been actively dealing for eight months with this litigation, and th9 parties submissions during that 

r 

time were in effect a "meet and confer" held with the assistance of the court. Furthermore, 
'I 
'j 

Section 202.7 applies only to motions "relating to ... a bill of particulars" (emphasis added) 
,I 

" 

which this is not. The Bill 'of Particulars was requested after the ~otion to dismiss had been 
" 

il 

filed. As the motion came before the Bill, Section 202.7 does not apply. 

Cadwalader's first, second and third affirmative defenses are without merit. Red Zone 
ii 
" has set forth evidence to sustain summary judgment, and Red Zone is precluded from the defense , 
i 

of failure to state a claim. The second and third affirmative defenses are dismissed for similar 

reasons. 

Cadwalader's fifth affirmative defense is dismissed. A d~fense of laches is unavailable in 

an action at law commenced within the statute of limitations. Sek Cadlerock, LLC v Renner 
:1 ' 

72 AD3d 454,454 (1st Dept 2010). Waiver is similarly unavaihlhle. See Nassau Trust Co. v 
II 
I 

Montrose Concrete Products Corp., 56 NY2d 175, 184 (1982) (,:waiver requires no more than 
II 

the voluntary and intentional abandonment of a known right whi!h, but for the waiver, would 

: II 
have been enforceable"). The law does not support Cadwalader's claim that Red Zone waived 

the right to pursue its claim by allowing time to pass. 

2 
:j 

II 
I 

, 'I 

!I 
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Cadwalader's sixth affinnative defense is dismissed. 

" It' 
II 
'I 
'I 

Cadwalader's defense is based on 
II 

,the assertion that Red Zone's damages are attributable to its inability to enforce its view of the 
~ I 

August 17, 2005 agreement, which Cadwalader was hired to melorialize. "Counsel may not 

shift to the client the legal responsibility it was specifically hired to undertake because of its 

II 
superior knowledge." Hart v Carro, Spanbock, Kaster & CuijJo, '-211 AD2d 617, 619 (2d Dept 

I~ 
1995). 

Ii 
" 

Cadwalader's seventh affirmative defense of judicial and '~quitable estoppel and judicial 
il 

admission is also dismissed. "The party asserting estoppel must show with respect to himself: 
r 
!I 

(1) lack of knowledge of the true facts; (2) reliance upon the con~uct of the party estopped; and 

'II 
(3) a prejudicial change in his position," BWA Corp v Alltrans Exp. USA, Inc., 112 AD2d 850, 

:1 

853 (1 st Dept 1985) (internal citations omitted). Cadwalader does not make any allegations that 

amount to a prejudicial change in its position. 

"Judicial estoppel, or the doctrine of inconsistent positions, precludes a party who 

assumed a certain position in a prior legal proceeding and who sJcured a judgment in his or her 
, 

favor from assuming a contrary position in another action simplyl because his or her interests 
" ,t 

have changed. Ford Motor Credit Co. v Colonial Funding Corp,', 215 AD2d 435, 436 (2d Dept 
I , 

1995). Cadwalader alleges that Red Zone changed its description of its fee arrangement with 
" 

UBS from the time of the previous litigation and now. I~ the pr~lvious litigation the claims made 

by Red Zone were rejected as a matter of law, and were not adopted by the court in any manner. 
" 

I 

Thus, judicial estoppel does not apply as an affinnative defense 16 this alleged contrary position. 
:1 
" 

Cadwalader's assertion of judicial admissions is dismissed. The doctrine of judicial 

admissions only applies when factual statements made in a preceding action are sought to be 
'I 

• Ii 

contradicted in a subsequent action. See Baje Realty Corp. v Cutler, 32 AD3d 307, 310 (1st Dept 
,I 
It 

3 
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II 
11' 

2006). Again, the facts asserted by Red Zone in the previous litigation were not relevant under 
'! 
I; 

the First Department's October 28,2010 decision granting UBS summary judgment as a matter 
It 
,I 

of law. The legal arguments made by Red Zone in the underlying a~tion are outside the doctrine 
.1 

Ii 
of judicial admissions. This doctrine applies only to facts that have been admitted and later 

r 
; 

sought to be contradicted. Cadwalader has not alleged additional facts which would support an 
I 

inference of judicial assertions. 

Finally, Cadwalader's affirmative defense that the plaintiff failed to mitigate damages is 
I' I, 

dismissed. The burden of proving the defense of failure to mitigate damages in a legal 

II 
malpractice action is always on the malpracticing attorney. Lindeman v Kreitzer, 7 AD3d 30, 35 

·1 
II 
• 

(Ist Dept 2004). The law oflegal malpractice has never recogni~ed as a defense to a malpractice 
:! 

claim that the injured client "should have settled" or "should have paid." See Am. Int'l 
:i 
!, 

Adjustment Co. v Galvin, 86 F3d 1455, 1462 (7th Cir 1996). "H9wever there is no legal duty to 

settle a case. Even assuming that AIAC's failure to settle the case was stupid, such stupidity bore 

no causal connection to the injury it claims." 

The burden is on Cadwalader to establish that there is a ~efense of "failure to pay" or 
'I 
II 

"failure to settle," and no law has been cited to support this theory. It is 
II 
I 

ORDERED that defendant's affirmative defenses (except the fourth affirmative defense) ., 

are dismissed. 

Dated: August..17, 2013 

ENTER: 

4 

" 

:1 

;1 

it 
• 

il 
i 
'I 
!! 

MELVIN L 
~ . SCHWEITZER 
;! 
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